

WHO DRUG INFORMATION

Volume 34 • Number 4 • 2020

Proposed INN: List 124

International Nonproprietary Names for Pharmaceutical Substances



**World Health
Organization**

WHO Drug Information

WHO Drug Information provides an overview of topics relating to medicines development, regulation, quality and safety. The journal also publishes and reports on guidance documents and includes lists of International Nonproprietary Names for Pharmaceutical Substances (INN), ATC/DDD classification and monographs for The International Pharmacopoeia. It presents and describes WHO policies and activities while reflecting on technical and pharmaceutical topics of international and regional interest.

WHO Drug Information is published four times a year and can be ordered from:

WHO Press, World Health Organization, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland.

e-mail: bookorders@who.int or on line at <http://www.who.int/bookorders>

WHO Drug Information can be viewed at:

<http://www.who.int/druginformation>

WHO Drug Information, Vol. 34, No. 4, 2020

ISBN 978-92-4-002282-9 (electronic version)

ISBN 978-92-4-002283-6 (print version)

ISSN 1010-9609

© World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (<http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/>).

Suggested citation. WHO Drug Information, Vol. 34, No. 4, 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: [CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO](#).

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at <http://apps.who.int/iris>.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see <http://apps.who.int/bookorders>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <http://www.who.int/about/licensing>.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

WHO Drug Information

Contents

Quality Assurance News

- 802** White Paper for the WHO International Meeting of World Pharmacopoeias – *Value of Pharmacopoeial Standards for Access to Quality Medicines*
- 809** Study Report: Proficiency testing study on a WHO/TAL-trained methodology

Consultation Documents

- 842** Rifampicin (*rifampicinum*) – Draft proposal for inclusion in *The International Pharmacopoeia*
- 846** Dolutegravir sodium (*dolutegravirum natricum*) – Draft proposal for inclusion in *The International Pharmacopoeia*
- 856** Dolutegravir tablets (*dolutegraviri compressi*) – Draft proposal for inclusion in *The International Pharmacopoeia*
- 862** Remdesivir (*remdesivirum*) – Draft proposal for inclusion in *The International Pharmacopoeia*
- 871** Remdesivir intravenous infusion (*remdesiviri infusio intraveno*) - Draft proposal for inclusion in *The International Pharmacopoeia*
- 877** WHO Guidelines on the Transfer of Technology in Pharmaceutical Manufacturing
- 907** Oxygen (*oxygenium*) - Draft proposal for inclusion in *The International Pharmacopoeia*
- 917** ATC/DDD Classification (Temporary)
- 923** ATC/DDD Classification (Final)

International Nonproprietary Names (INN)

- 929** Proposed INN List No. 124

Abbreviations and websites

CHMP	Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (EMA)
EMA	European Medicines Agency (www.ema.europa.eu)
EU	European Union
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration (www.fda.gov)
Health Canada	Federal department responsible for health product regulation in Canada (www.hc-sc.gc.ca)
HPRA	Health Products Regulatory Authority, Ireland (www.hpra.ie)
HSA	Health Sciences Authority, Singapore (www.hsa.gov.sg)
ICDRA	International Conference of Drug Regulatory Authorities
ICH	International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (www.ich.org)
IGDRP	International Generic Drug Regulators Programme (https://www.igdrp.com)
MHLW	Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, Japan
MHRA	Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency, United Kingdom (www.mhra.gov.uk)
Medsafe	New Zealand Medicines and Medical Devices Safety Authority (www.medsafe.govt.nz)
Ph. Int	<i>The International Pharmacopoeia</i> (http://apps.who.int/phint/)
PMDA	Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency, Japan (www.pmda.go.jp/english/index.htm)
Swissmedic	Swiss Agency for Therapeutic Products (www.swissmedic.ch)
TGA	Therapeutic Goods Administration, Australia (www.tga.gov.au)
WHO	World Health Organization (www.who.int)
WHO MHP	WHO Access to Medicines and Health Products Division (www.who.int/medicines/en/)
WHO RPQ	WHO Regulation and Prequalification Department
WHO PQT	WHO Prequalification Unit (https://www.who.int/topics/prequalification/en/)
WHO HPS	WHO Health Product Policy and Standards Department

Note: The online version of this issue is available at www.who.int/medicines/publications/druginformation

White Paper for the WHO International Meeting of World Pharmacopoeias

Value of Pharmacopoeial Standards for Access to Quality Medicines

Introduction

In healthcare systems around the world, medicines play an important role in treating illness, preventing disease, and ultimately, saving lives. In a broader sense, medicines are valuable to society as tools to protect the public health. Nowadays, medicines are complex products made from numerous ingredients sourced through the global supply chain. The quality of medicines is ensured by the control of many factors such as the quality of their components. While quality medicines are safe and effective, substandard and falsified medicines can be ineffective and even harmful.

Medicine Quality Standards: The Pharmacopoeias

Because medicine quality is so important to society, standards for medicine quality have been developed and published in countries around the world. In some countries, the standards have been compiled and placed in a valuable resource called a pharmacopoeia for decades and, in some cases, for centuries. A pharmacopoeia is an official collection of quality standards and specifications for medicines and their ingredients. This information is publicly available, shared, and used by parties concerned about the quality of medicines. These different parties, known as stakeholders, include medicine manufacturers, analytical laboratories, raw material suppliers, policy makers, regulatory agencies, pharmacies and other interested groups. Traditionally, a pharmacopoeia was only contained in a book, now an increasing number of pharmacopoeias are also available online. The Pharmacopoeias constantly work to improve access to the information and enhance the user's ability to benefit from the full range of standards, best practices, and guidance provided.

A pharmacopoeia contains detailed, descriptive information about quality attributes of medicines and their ingredients in the form of quality standards. The information encompasses procedures for how the medicine should be tested for identity, purity, potency, and other aspects of quality before it reaches the market and throughout its shelf life. Indeed, potential impurities that need to be kept under the maximum allowable level are controlled by the quality standard. In addition to these binding quality standards, the pharmacopoeia also provides useful guidance and recommendations for laboratories and production facilities. This guidance typically describes best practices, such as the preferred techniques and procedures to use in testing the medicines, and may be in the form of non-binding chapters or other means.

The core purpose of a pharmacopoeia is to help ensure that medicines and their ingredients are safe, effective, and of appropriate quality. The standards define the specifications that pharmaceutical ingredients and products on the market must fulfill throughout their shelf life. As such, the quality standards in the pharmacopoeia serve as a benchmark for quality, underpinning the overall safety of medicines and making a vital contribution to protecting public health. Quality standards also provide a common, or shared, understanding of appropriate quality characteristics for medicines and their ingredients. This common understanding helps streamline communications between manufacturers and regulatory authorities, saving time and resources while also building confidence in medicine quality among healthcare professionals and patients.

Transparent, Unbiased Public Process

Pharmacopoeias and the standards they contain are the end result of a unique collaborative effort by a range of stakeholders who work collectively to protect public health. These stakeholders are individual scientific experts who come together from regulatory agencies, academia, healthcare practice, industry, and other related areas to serve as members of pharmacopoeial committees and advisory groups. Their expertise is critical to the scientific development, review, evaluation, and approval of quality standards. Clear rules for identifying and managing potential conflicts of interest are therefore crucial. This ensures that the scientific experts on the pharmacopoeial committees are functioning as independent, impartial individuals, driven by science and acting in the best interests of public health.

The rules for ensuring that the experts are impartial are crucial to the integrity and credibility of the pharmacopoeia. Equally critical is the transparent, well-defined public process used for developing quality standards. One aspect of transparency is that stakeholders are informed in advance of possible upcoming changes to quality standards. This ensures that a stakeholder who may have concerns about a certain quality standard will have time to provide input and participate in the standard-setting process. This practice of transparency includes opportunities to comment on proposals made about the standards. Input from stakeholders is carefully considered and may be incorporated by the pharmacopoeia's committees of scientific experts before a standard is finalized. The process to develop quality standards is publicly available, open, and held to account, enabling stakeholders to have confidence in pharmacopoeial standards.

Data-driven and Grounded in Science

Given their critical role in healthcare and public health, pharmacopoeial standards must be based on robust data and sound scientific principles. Data are mainly submitted by stakeholders who seek to support the development of a new standard. These data, from a variety of sources, are gathered and used to construct the quality standard. All the evidence is evaluated carefully by experts from multiple scientific disciplines, allowing for thorough, productive scientific discussions and decision making.

After the new standard has been finalized and published, relevant data and evidence continue to be used throughout the lifecycle of the standard to ensure that it remains fit-for-purpose and reflective of the current state of the science, resulting, where necessary, in frequent revisions of standards. The standard must continue to reflect the expected quality of the specific medicine or its ingredients over time. Robust pharmacopoeial standards are supported by appropriate validation data that confirm that the analytical procedures are suitable for the intended purpose. Feedback and input from stakeholders are collected on an ongoing basis to ensure that the standards remain appropriate and applicable to all stakeholders, most specifically the regulatory agencies or pharmaceutical industry.

Responsive to Public Health Needs

Over time, the number and complexity of medicines on the market is growing. Simultaneously, quality control strategies and manufacturing paradigms are becoming more diverse. In this complex environment, quality standards are playing an increasingly relevant role in protecting public health. As part of a broader health and social care system, quality standards can help maintain a stable, affordable, accessible supply of essential medicines while also facilitating the development of new medicines¹.

¹ For example, a very recent US study [1] shows that pharmacopoeial standards facilitate patients' access to quality medicines while at the same time saving the healthcare system billions (USD) annually. Additionally, findings of a new survey [2] suggest that the use of pharmacopoeial standards also reduces time and costs associated with product development for manufacturers of high-quality generic medicines. Moreover, survey respondents' perceptions are that usage of the standards decreases the risk of rejection of the marketing approval application by the regulators, in this case FDA. While the results found are valid for the United States, it is likely that similar benefits would exist in other countries.

In this way, quality standards represent a critical element in the safety net that protects the public's supply of safe, effective, and affordable medicines. At the same time, the emerging public health needs of society can stimulate beneficial changes in current pharmacopoeial standards. These changes allow the standards to better reflect and respond to public health priorities as they evolve. Examples of these evolving public health priorities include addressing antimicrobial resistance, substandard or falsified medicines, and fostering access to safe, quality medicines for all².

Whilst this article was finalized following the 10th IMWP in February 2020, the IMWP felt it was important that it address the role of the pharmacopoeias in the global healthcare response to the COVID-19 pandemic. In early March 2020, the IMWP met as a result of the initiation of the Pharmacopoeial alert system with the specific goal to share knowledge and experience with regards the role that pharmacopoeias can play in assuring the continued supply of quality medicines during the pandemic. Through regular communications, the IMWP has shared information with regards to maintaining operations in developing and distributing standards, engaged on strategies for the development of pharmacopoeial standards for critical COVID-19 treatments, and established a public dashboard on monograph availability of COVID-19 investigated drugs in world pharmacopoeias. The pharmacopoeias are resolute in their commitment to supporting the healthcare response to COVID-19 and will continue to reflect on the lessons learnt from the pandemic to improve their ability to meet public health needs.

Continuous Updates Reflect Scientific Advances

The world is changing rapidly, particularly in the realm of science and technology. These changes affect many aspects of society, including quality standards for medicines. It is important to note that a pharmacopoeia must be updated continuously, as it cannot remain stagnant while technology evolves around it. Instead, pharmacopoeial standards adapt over time to better support the changing needs of users and to keep pace with technology. One example is the replacement of legacy technologies with contemporary techniques, as was the transition from thin-layer chromatography to liquid chromatography for the test for related substances. This shift in technique is just one example that illustrates how quality standards can and do respond to advances in technology and science. Therefore, scientific progress and an evolving regulatory environment are driving forces behind the need to constantly revise a pharmacopoeial standard so it can remain relevant and effective.

² For example, Antimicrobial resistance (3), Substandard and falsified medical products (4), the Universal Health Coverage (5) and the related Sustainable Development Goals "SDGs" (6).

Global Collaboration on Quality Standards

The utility of pharmacopoeial standards relies heavily on their continued alignment with public health priorities and current, practical scientific approaches to quality. To help ensure positive outcomes, the organizations that develop pharmacopoeias collaborate with each other, industry, and regulators around the world. These stakeholders work together to ensure public health by ensuring the quality of medicines by assembling the appropriate expertise and proposing viable solutions to address public health issues related to medicines quality, including during times of public health emergencies, such as with the adulteration of heparin and glycerol with toxic contaminants, as well as the current concerns with nitrosamine impurities in sartans and other pharmaceutical products. In addition, pharmacopoeias from around the globe through a meeting hosted by WHO called the International Meeting of World Pharmacopoeias worked to develop the first ever guideline on Good Pharmacopoeial Practices (7), which was developed through a collaborative effort and based on feed back during a global consultation.

Supportive of Making Medicines Available to All

Pharmacopoeias have another important function and role. Their quality standards facilitate the development, manufacture, authorization, and post-market surveillance of medicines in countries around the world. In this way, pharmacopoeias help support making medicines widely available to patients around the world. When pharmaceutical companies are developing innovative medicines to treat diseases, their scientists typically refer to the relevant quality standards in the pharmacopoeia. The awareness and understanding of standards enable the development of quality medicines and facilitates approval from regulatory agencies. Indeed, meeting the regulatory expectations for quality is critical when a company seeks approval to manufacture and market a medicine.

Moreover, when there are multiple manufacturers making the same ingredient or product for the market, the existence of common standards helps to assist all companies to achieve the expected quality. Every time a pharmacopoeial standard for a given product becomes available, it creates a level playing field for all manufacturers making the product, helping them to meet the same benchmark. Ultimately, this plays a key role in protecting patients and in assuring healthcare professionals that the medicines they prescribe or dispense are reliable, effective, and safe.

预览已结束，完整报告链接和二维码如下：

https://www.yunbaogao.cn/report/index/report?reportId=5_24134

